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ALASKA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	KHA  DO, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

KUYKENDALL, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY INS. CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200512575
AWCB Decision No.  09-0185
Filed with AWCB Fairbanks, Alaska

on December 4, 2009


Employee’s claim was heard on April 23, 2009, in Fairbanks, Alaska.  Attorney Robert Beconovich represented Kha Do (Employee).  Attorney Krista Schwarting represented Kuykendall, Inc. and its worker’s compensation insurer (Employer).  The hearing record was left open until May 1, 2009, for Employee’s supplemental fee affidavit, until May 8, 2009 to receive Employer’s response to Employee’s fee affidavit, and to receive an employer’s medical evaluator (EME) report from John Swanson, M.D.  Employee’s Supplemental Affidavit Of Attorney Fees And Costs was received on April 24, 2009, Employer’s Limited Objection to Attorney’s Fees on May 4, 2009 and Dr. Swanson’s EME report on May 6, 2009.  Employee subsequently filed a “Smallwood objection” to Dr. Swanson’s EME report on May 7, 2009.  

The parties attended a prehearing conference on June 2, 2009, at which they agreed Employer could depose Dr. Swanson to cure Employee’s Smallwood objection and agreed to post-hearing briefs.  The parties further agreed Employee could file a supplemental fee and cost affidavit no later than seven days after Dr. Swanson’s deposition was filed, and the record would close seven days thereafter (Prehearing Conference Summary dated June 2, 2009).  Employee’s Final Supplemental Affidavit Of Fees And Costs was filed September 8, 2009.  Employer deposed Dr. Swanson on August 13, 2009, and his deposition transcript was filed on September 11, 2009; accordingly, the hearing record was closed on September 18, 2009.

Witnesses included Kha Do (deposition and live) and Jim Kenney for Employee.  Employer called John Swanson, M.D. (deposition).

ISSUES

Employee contended at hearing Employer’s initial, July 10, 2006 EME report was inadmissible because he “Smallwooded” it and Employer never provided an opportunity for him to cross-examine its authors, including one who is since deceased (Employee’s hearing arguments).  Employee further contended he was claiming a compensation rate adjustment for his temporary total disability (TTD), which he argued should be higher, and suggested he did not know why the compensation rate adjustment issue “dropped off” the applicable prehearing conference summary (Employee’s April 16, 2007 claim; Employee’s hearing arguments).  Employee had requested permanent partial impairment (PPI) in his written April 16, 2007 claim, but did not include that issue in his briefing or in his hearing arguments (Employee’s Hearing Brief; Employee’s hearing arguments).  He contended his continuing disability and need for medical care arises out of and in the course of his June 15, 2005 injury with Employer.  Consequently, he contends he is entitled to TTD from January 6, 2007 and continuing until such time as his status changes; he also seeks medical authorization for future surgery previously recommended by his physicians; a vocational rehabilitation eligibility evaluation; penalty for an unsupported controversion; interest; and attorney’s fees and costs.   

By contrast, Employer contended its initial EME report should be admissible (Employer’s hearing arguments).  Employer further contended Employee’s June 15, 2005 work injury is not a substantial factor causing Employee’s current condition including any disability.  Consequently, it asserts Employer properly controverted TTD effective January 6, 2007.  Employer contended Employee’s work-related lumbar strain condition had resolved by the time he left Alaska in September 2005; Employer blames continuing symptoms, disability and any continuing medical care needs on Employee’s fishing adventure in Long Beach, California around September 2005, or on his pre-existing lumbar degenerative disease, or on aging and genetic issues.  Employer further contended Employee’s claim for PPI must be dismissed because he provided no PPI rating from a physician and the only physicians to conduct a PPI evaluation were Employer’s EME physicians, who found there was no ratable PPI attributable to the work-related injury.  Employer contended Employee’s request for a vocational reemployment eligibility evaluation was untimely and must be denied.  Employer further contended it has paid all benefits due and owing Employee, and justifiably relied upon its EME reports to controvert Employee’s claim; therefore, it asserts no penalties or interest are due. Because it asserts no additional benefits are awardable, Employer contended Employee’s claim for attorney’s fees and costs should also be denied.  

1) Is Employer’s July 10, 2006 EME report admissible over Employee’s request for cross-examination?

2) Are claims for a compensation rate adjustment, a vocational rehabilitation eligibility evaluation and PPI properly raised and ripe for adjudication?

3) Does Employee’s disability or need for medical care after January 6, 2007 still arise out of and in the course of his employment with Employer?

4) Is Employee entitled to an award of TTD from January 6, 2007 and continuing until he is medically stable and his status changes?

5) Is Employee entitled to a prospective award of medical care?

6) Is Employee entitled to a penalty?

7) Is Employee entitled to an award of interest?

8) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs? 

FINDINGS OF FACT

The following facts are established in review of the entire record, by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) In 1988, Employee, a naturalized citizen of Vietnamese descent, worked in Hawaii as a carpenter and among other things lifted 40 pound concrete blocks, mixed “mud” and laid block (Kenney; Do).  Jim Kenney lived with Employee for about 6 months in 1988 in the same house and never observed him having any physical issues during this period (Kenney).  Mr. Kenney later hired Employee to perform remodeling work and observed him for about 1.5 years in 1990 through 1991 and noticed no physical difficulties with his work (id.).

2) In summer 2004, Employee came to Alaska at Mr. Kenney’s request to take work with Employer (Do deposition at 60).  He worked at a Ford dealership briefly in April or May 2004, lifting and carrying parts, without any difficulty (Do).  Employee had a pre-hire physical at Urgent Care; the physical exam looked at his whole body, was “quite long” and he passed Employer’s physical.  He began working for Employer in 2004 and continued until shortly after he was injured (Do deposition at 60, 73-74).  Mr. Kenney was Employee’s foreman at the time of injury (id. at 64).  Mr. Kenney went through the same physical and “hazmat” training Employee experienced, including running on a treadmill, and was “hazmat” certified along with Employee (Kenney).  Mr. Kenney supervised Employee taking down a large building for Employer in 2004 and observed no physical problems with Employee on that job (id.).  

3) In 2005, Employee worked for Employer about 8 hours a day removing asbestos and another 3 hours as a security guard on the job site (id.).  The wall panels from which Employee scraped asbestos were 16 gauge metal sheets, about 16 feet long and about 3.5 feet wide and weighed 150 to 200 pounds each (id.).  

4) On June 15, 2005, Employee, a laborer, injured “multiple body parts” including his right wrist, right shoulder, and lower back when a co-worker dropped a metal panel, cutting Employee’s right wrist and causing low back pain (Report of Occupational Injury or Illness dated July 1, 2005).  

5) On June 16, 2005, Employee sought treatment at Fairbanks Urgent Care Center (Do deposition at 28).  He reported a history of elbow and lower back pain after carrying a heavy panel at work.  His diagnoses included low back pain “without radiculopathy,” right epicondylitis and he was released to modified work between June 16, 2005 and June 22, 2005 (Fairbanks Urgent Care Center June 16, 2005 chart note).  His doctor restricted him from lifting 21 pounds or over, squatting, and limited him to occasional bending (Work Status Report dated June 16, 2005).

6) Employee’s attending physician opined the condition was work-related because it “occurred @ work,” Employee was not medically stable, and he was restricted from work for 4 to 7 days (Physician’s Report dated June 16, 2005).  

7) Shortly after his accident, Employee noticed his left leg had radiating pain (Do deposition at 36).  On June 22, 2005, Employee’s physician noted “left thigh paresthesias” and low back pain, and prescribed physical therapy 2 to 3 times per week for 2 to 3 weeks and advised Employee he needed to “move frequently” (Work Status Report dated June 22, 2005).

8) On June 27, 2005, Employee reported “slow onset” of low back pain “with radiculopathy,” down his left leg to the knee (June 27, 2005 chart note).  On July 5, 2005, Employee reported his thigh was getting better, was not aching, but was “tingling” (July 5, 2005 chart note).  Employee’s restrictions continued through July 27, 2005, as did his physical therapy prescription (Work Status Report dated July 21, 2005; see also July 25, 2005 Physical Therapy Daily Note).  

9) On August 1, 2005, Employee reported to his physical therapist he did some “yard work” and had increased lumbar pain (August 1, 2005 Physical Therapy Daily Note).  On August 2, 2005, Employee reported after working a half-day and standing for awhile his left calf became numb.  He also reported cold made his back pain start and become worse (August 2, 2005 chart note).

10) Mr. Kenney saw Employee after his injury and contrary to his usual stoicism, Employee complained of low back and left leg pain (Kenney). 

11) Additional Work Status Reports provided similar restrictions until August 9, 2005, when Employee’s physician restricted him from lifting 11 pounds and over, bending, squatting, and restricted him from lifting “0 to 10” pounds more than occasionally, climbing, pushing and pulling, and restricted him from frequent kneeling.  On even date, Employee’s physician referred him to an orthopedic specialist, noting he had an acute lumbosacral strain “with radiculopathy” into the left calf (Work Status Report dated August 9, 2005).

12) Beginning August 10, 2005, Employer commenced paying TTD benefits (Compensation Report dated January 9, 2007).  TTD benefits ceased January 5, 2007 (Compensation Report dated January 10, 2007).

13) On August 11, 2005, a lumbar Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) scan disclosed “moderate to severe” central stenosis at L4-5 with “severe” neural foraminal stenosis, secondary to grade I spondylolisthesis, diffuse disc bulge and facet degeneration; “severe” left-sided foraminal stenosis L5-S1 with “swelling of exiting left L5 nerve root” relating to left paracentral/foraminal disc protrusion and facet degeneration; and “moderate” central stenosis at L3-4 (MRI Final Report dated August 11, 2005).

14) On August 17, 2005, Employee saw R. O. Beck, M.D., to whom he gave a consistent history of his June 16, 2005 work-related injury.  Dr. Beck on examination found objective “back spasms” and “toe weakness,” recommended a lumbar MRI scan and suspected facet stenosis with a “swollen nerve and nerve root.”  He concluded Employee’s condition was work-related and noted his symptoms and findings were consistent with his accident history from June 15, 2005.  He noted Employee might relocate to Long Beach where he has family and friends.  Dr. Beck opined Employee was not medically stable and said the injury may permanently preclude him from returning to his job at the time of injury, though it was “undetermined” whether it would result in permanent impairment.  He did not release Employee for work and suggested a lumbar epidural steroid injection (Physician’s Report dated August 17, 2005).

15) On August 19, 2005, Employee saw Lawrence Stinson, M.D., in Fairbanks for an epidural steroid injection.  Dr. Stinson diagnosed lumbar spinal stenosis and lumbar radiculitis and on September 1, 2005, Dr. Stinson performed another injection.  According to the report, Employee received “some benefit” from the first injection, was comfortable at rest, but had “increasing symptoms” with activity (September 1, 2005 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska Procedure Note).

16) Dr. Stinson noted Employee had injured his back while lifting a heavy object with another person at work.  Since that time Employee had significant lumbar and lower-extremity radicular symptoms.  According to Dr. Stinson, Employee’s MRI demonstrated spondylosis with swelling of the left S1 nerve root as well central spinal canal stenosis (August 19, 2005 Advance Pain Centers of Alaska Procedure Note).  

17) On discharge, Dr. Stinson advised Employee to: “Resume normal activity when full movement and sensation has returned.  Be careful on steps, curbs, rugs or other uneven surfaces until normal strength and sensation have returned” (August 19, 2005 and September 2, 2005 Discharge Instructions).  Notably, Dr. Stinson planned to follow up with Employee within two weeks and assess how he was doing.  If he continued to progress, Dr. Stinson would consider a third injection.  However, if Employee “does poorly or redevelops increasing symptoms, he may be a candidate for surgical evaluation” (Dr. Stinson’s September 1, 2005 Procedure Note at 2).

18) Mr. Kenney saw Employee after his steroid shots and he looked “somewhat” better (Kenney).  Cold weather bothered Employee’s back so he decided to go to California (Do).

19) In September 2005, Employee relocated to Long Beach, CA (Do deposition at 43).  He drove down and it took two weeks; he drove for a couple of hours and then stopped to rest (Do).  Employee had worked lined up with a friend laying tiles, which he said weighed only 5 pounds (id.).  In California, he went fishing from a pier on three days; the first two days were uneventful but on the third day he caught a stingray, stood up, fought the fish for about 10 minutes and while the fish was still in the water and he was reeling it in, noticed an increase in back and left leg pain (Do; Do deposition at 43-44).  Some passersby helped him reel it in, and Employee estimated the stingray weighed maybe 5 pounds but less than 10 pounds (Do).  Employee had more pain than before, but in the same places as before (id.).  But for the stingray incident, Employee planned to try tile work the following Monday -- he did not return to work (id.).

20) On October 10, 2005, Employee reported to the emergency department at Memorial Care in Long Beach, California.  He provided a history of low back pain after bearing the weight of a metal panel on June 15, 2005.  Employee noted he arrived in Long Beach to visit a friend and over the “last couple of weeks” noticed increased pain in the lumbar spine with pain to the left leg.  Objectively, Employee was unable to “toe walk” on the left, had a positive left straight leg raising test, and weakness on dorsiflexion in his left great toe (Primary Treating Physician’s Progress Report dated October 10, 2005).  He noted low back pain radiated down the back of his legs and stated he was having some loss of “bowel and bladder.”  The physician’s diagnosis included “chronic low back pain with acute exacerbation” (Doctor’s First Report of Occupational Injury or Illness dated October 10, 2005).  Noting Employee had an “open worker’s compensation” case, the examining physician referred him to Memorial Occupational Medical Services, which was willing to take over his care (Emergency Dept Report dated October 10, 2005).

21) On October 10, 2005, Memorial Occupational Medical Services provided an Initial Patient Status Report listing a date of injury on “June 15, 2005.”  The diagnosis included left S1 with sciatica, and placed Employee on TTD status for 15 days, stated the disability was “work related,” and transferred Employee’s care to “Dr. Yuan” (October 10, 2005 Initial Patient Status Report from Memorial Occupational Medical Services).

22) On November 2, 2005, Employee was placed on modified duty for an additional 14 days.  The Patient Status Report listed Employer in the instant case as the responsible employer and diagnosed a lumbar sprain with sciatica (Memorial Occupational Medical Services Patient Status Report dated November 2, 2005).  Similar, subsequent status reports placed Employee on TTD status for 30 and 20 days respectively (Patient Status Report dated November 16, 2005 and November 23, 2005).

23) On December 8, 2005, Employee saw Philip Yuan, M.D., and provided the following history:
The patient worked for Kuy Kendall (sic) Inc. in Fairbanks, Alaska.  He says he worked for the company last year, and then again this year.  He reports that he injured his low back on 6/15/05 while carrying a metal panel with another employee.  They had to turn it over to clean it.  The other employee dropped the panel, and the panel bounced and cut the inside of his right wrist.  He did not feel pain in the low back at the time, but noted pain a couple of days later.  It was in the left low back and later left leg numbness followed by pain.

He was seen at Fairbanks Urgent Care Center, where he was treated with physical therapy for his back.  He says he saw about three doctors at the clinic.  He feels therapy helped the back little bit.  He says the last doctor, Dr. Kim sent him for x-rays and then for an MRI.  Dr. Kim then sent him to Dr. Beck, a specialist, who told him there was some nerve damage in his back and might need surgery.  Dr. Beck sent him to Dr. Lawrence for injection.  The patient says he felt good for about two weeks, and Dr. Lawrence did a second injection.  The patient also felt good after the second injection; he says Dr. Lawrence would not do any further injections.

The patient returned to this area, and the pain in his back started again.  The pain was especially bad in the left leg, with numbness.  He called back to Fairbanks for instructions.  He was told to get treatment wherever he wanted.  He went to Memorial ER, but was sent to Memorial Occupational Medical Services.  He says he has not had any x-rays at MOMs.  He has been receiving Ibuprofen and Cyclobenzaprine HCL, which helps only a little bit.  He says the pain is a 6-7 on a scale of 10, but if he walks or does activity the pain increases for about 3-4 days.  He has not received any physical therapy at MOMs.  He says Dr. Bernardez at MOMS wanted him to see Dr. Yuan, a specialist; Dr. Westerband of MOMS has requested the referral.  The carrier has authorized a consultation for the lumbar spine (emphasis added; Dr. Yuan’s December 8, 2005 letter to Linda Humspargar (sic) at AIG claims).
24) On December 8, 2005, Employee in his history to Dr. Yuan noted an accident twenty years earlier in which he injured his neck and had minor low back pain.  He told Dr. Yuan his back did not bother him after that.  Employee had not worked since his June 15, 2005 injury.  He usually worked as a carpenter, which involved lifting, pushing, pulling, bending, reaching, standing and walking.  Employee reported pain in the left lower back and left leg.  He felt the leg pain was worse than the back pain and he complained of pain “all the time” in his leg.  He also complained of numbness in the left foot, with pain on the back of his left leg on the outside wrapping to the front of the lower leg.  If he sits, stands or walks too far, the pain increases in the back and leg.  When he is active, his pain worsens for a few days and then subsides.  However, Employee reported his pain was always a “6-7” on a “10” scale at its best.  He reported difficulty sleeping and when his pain was bad could not lay flat on his back or straighten his left leg (id. at 2).
25) Dr. Yuan performed a standard physical examination and reviewed Employee’s radiographic films.  According to Dr. Yuan, the MRI showed degenerative spondylolisthesis at L4-5, end plate edema involving the L4-5 levels, resulting in severe stenosis at L4-5, diffuse disc bulge at that level, severe neural foraminal stenosis at L5-S1 mainly on the left, and a “foraminal herniation” at that level (id. at 3).  Dr. Yuan’s impression was “radiating left lower extremity pain greater than back pain in the setting of degenerative spondylolisthesis and spinal stenosis.”  Dr. Yuan opined Employee failed conservative treatment to date with maximal non-operative attention but still had significant discomfort and had been that way “for at least six months.”  He recommended surgical intervention to include a lumbar laminectomy at the L4-5 and L5-S1 levels and “instrumented fusion” at L4-5 to treat the spondylolisthesis (id. at 4).
26) On December 8, 2005, Dr. Yuan recommended additional x-rays preoperatively, recommended Employee remain “off work,” and requested authorization for the recommended surgery (Attending Physician’s Report dated December 8, 2005; the previous information was from a letter to the adjuster).

27) On January 16, 2006, Employee saw Dr. Yuan for follow up; they were still “awaiting authorization” for surgery for “severe” low back pain and radiating left lower extremity pain.  Dr. Yuan’s impression was similar to his previous opinion; he felt Employee was “suffering” and was “unable to work.”  According to Dr. Yuan, “[t]he goal of surgery would be to get him back to work sooner and allow him to perform his usual activities of daily living.”  His left lower extremity weakness was increasing and Dr. Yuan opined it was not wise to “wait much longer” (Attending Physician’s Report dated January 16, 2006).  Dr. Yuan again recommended surgery and said Employee remained off work effective January 16, 2006 (id.).
28) On July 10, 2006, Employee saw Gerald Reimer, M.D., and Steven Schilperoort, M.D., for an EME.
  He provided a consistent medical history concerning his work-related injury on June 15, 2005.  The EME physicians did not have imaging studies available for personal review, but their impressions included degenerative lumbar spondylosis characterized by facet arthritis, degenerative discopathy, disc bulge, foraminal stenosis, osteophyte formation, degenerative spondylolisthesis by imaging study, and a lumbar strain (Impartial Medical Opinions report dated July 10, 2006 at 5).  The EME physicians opined Employee had pre-existing conditions as listed in their diagnoses, which they felt was “quite obvious” and apparent on the imaging studies.  “The strain could, of course, make such a condition symptomatic.”  However, they felt the increased symptoms would be “a temporary and not a permanent worsening of a pre-existing condition,” and there “was no medical evidence of a worsening of a pre-existing condition.”  Though they agreed with the recommended surgical procedure, they were not of the opinion it would be related to “the incident in question.”  The EME doctors were asked if the June 15, 2005 incident was “the substantial cause” of Employee’s need for surgical treatment and responded in their opinion the incident was not “a substantial cause” of the need for such treatment.  No further treatment was necessary for his work-related injury, the strain, in their opinion, had resolved, Employee was medically stable, and he had no permanent partial impairment related to his work injury.  Any need for a job change would not be caused by his work-related injury (id. at 5-6).

29) On November 3, 2006, Employee saw Lytton Williams, M.D., orthopedic specialist, for follow-up evaluation.  In a letter of even date, Dr. Williams wrote to the insurance carrier the following:
History:

The patient sustained injury while he was working in Alaska at the time.  He reported that he was carrying a heavy metal plate and another worker (sic) holding another metal plate.  The other worker let go of the heavy metal plate on his end and the patient has (sic) to hold onto it.  He felt immediate sharp pain in his low back.  He was also working as a sheet metal worker.  The patient had continued working with persistent low back pain and weakness in his left leg. 

He had an MRI study done which revealed spinal stenosis and herniated disc at L5-S1.  He received physical therapy from 06/05 to 08/05 (for three months).  He then had epidural injection which did not seem to have relieved his symptoms.  He has numbness worse with standing.  Squatting seems to resolve the numbness.  His standing tolerance is only 20 minutes; walking tolerance is 45 minutes.  He still continues to have pain to the low back.  Lifting and standing seems to increase his pain (Dr. Williams’ November 3, 2006 report at 1).
30) Dr. Williams’ MRI study review showed L4-5 spondylolysis with lateral recess and foraminal stenosis and a left-sided, L5-S1 “herniated disc” (id. at 2).  He also noted on physical examination Employee had a weak “toe and heel walk” on the left side, and weak motor strength at   dorsiflexion at 4/5 and plantar flexion 4/5 (id.).

31) Dr. Williams concluded Employee had lumbar spinal stenosis and a “herniated disc” at L5-S1 on the left.  Noting Employee failed conservative therapy, pain medication and epidural injections, Dr. Williams opined he needed lumbar spinal and foraminal decompression to relieve his pain and return him to work.  He anticipated placing Employee in the hospital for two days, placing him on light-duty work for six weeks, and then a “return back to regular duty.”  He would need a short course of physical therapy starting ten days following surgery, and a lumbosacral corset.  Dr. Williams requested authorization for treatment and noted the patient was “temporarily totally disabled” (id.).

32) On December 22, 2006, Dr. Williams saw Employee again, and noted “some confusion” based upon a “second opinion” done in Oregon.  Dr. Williams stated Employee’s “injury sustained was in Alaska so this confusion has been straightened out.”  He continued to opine Employee needs lumbar decompression and discectomy at L5-S1 and lumbar decompression at L4-5.  Dr. Williams noted surgery “has been approved for lumbar decompression and discectomy at L5-S1.”  Accordingly, he recommended Employee have lumbar decompression at L4-5 and discectomy at L5-S1.  He anticipated Employee’s disability would last for two or three months; he would begin physical therapy six weeks post-op (Dr. Williams’ December 22, 2006 report).

33) On January 8, 2007, Employer controverted Employee’s benefits (Employer’s Answer dated May 3, 2007; however, the actual document is not found in the record and the grounds for controversion are unknown).  

34) In December 2006, Dr. Williams attempted to schedule surgery for January 13, 2007.  However, on January 8, 2007, Dr. Williams’ office received notice the surgery was canceled because the compensation carrier submitted a “denial of services” (Dr. Williams’ January 8, 2007 chart note).  There are no further medical records from Employee’s treating physicians in the record following this controversion (record).

35) On April 16, 2007, Employee filed a claim requesting TTD, PPI “when rated,” “unknown” medical costs and related transportation expenses, an eligibility evaluation for vocational reemployment benefits, a compensation rate adjustment, penalty, interest, attorney’s fees and costs, and alleging Employer controverted benefits on January 8, 2007 based upon “a false and improperly conducted” EME (Employee’s April 16, 2007 Claim).

36) On May 4, 2007, Employer controverted all benefits based upon the EME report dated July 10, 2006.  According to Employer, its EME physicians found Employee’s condition medically stable on July 10, 2006, assessed no PPI rating, stated Employee required no further medical treatment, and could return to his job held at the time of his injury (Controversion Notice dated May 4, 2007).

37) On November 5, 2007, Employee “Smallwooded” the July 10, 2006 Reimer and Schilperoort EME report (Request for Cross-examination dated November 5, 2007).

38) On December 3, 2007, Employee testified at deposition he never had back pain before his injury with Employer (Do deposition at 33-34).

39) On January 15, 2008, Dr. Reimer responded to a letter from defense counsel dated January 9, 2008.  Dr. Reimer reported records disclosed Employee’s symptoms “went away and he was feeling quite nicely” after his lumbar injection.  He noted Employee went to Long Beach and reported after spending a day on the pier fishing “he began experiencing back and leg pain again.”  After reviewing his first EME report, Dr. Reimer opined the work-related lumbar strain symptoms abated prior to Employee going to Long Beach and, since his back pain returned while in Long Beach, in Dr. Reimer’s opinion, this supported his opinion degenerative factors remained “the primary cause” of ongoing pain (January 15, 2008 EME report at 1).  Dr. Reimer opined “the pre-existing spondylosis and not the work incident” was a substantial factor in bringing about the need of previous recommendations for lumbar surgery, the work incident was not a substantial factor in any permanent impairment, and not the reason Employee could not return to employment (id. at 3).  When asked if he could identify an alternate explanation for Employee’s continuing “back pain/condition” that excludes his June 15, 2005 work injury as a substantial factor, Dr. Reimer stated:

The major alternative explanation for his ongoing symptomatology would, in my opinion, be his degenerative condition.  If one notes carefully the history that was provided, he was well and doing quite nicely upon journeying to California to spend time with friends, when he once again became symptomatic while fishing (id. at 4).
40) On November 13, 2008, Employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing.  This affidavit shows service on Employer’s counsel on even date (Employee’s Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing dated November 13, 2008).  Employee did not “Smallwood” Dr. Reimer’s January 15, 2008 report (record). 

41) On December 22, 2008, the parties attended a prehearing conference.  Issues listed on the prehearing summary included: TTD; PPI; Transportation; “RBA”; Penalty/Interest; “Atty” fees/costs (December 22, 2008, Prehearing Conference Summary).

42) The Prehearing Conference Summary shows service on all parties on December 30, 2008 and included the words: 

If the above does not conform to your understanding of the discussion, statements, and agreements reached at the prehearing, you must file a written objection within 10 days of service of this summary. The hearing will be limited to the issues and agreements stated on this summary (id.).

43) On April 27, 2009, Employee saw Dr. Swanson for another EME.  Though his reported history of the work-related injury is more detailed, Employee gave Dr. Swanson a generally consistent history.  Notably, Dr. Swanson’s report states Employee told him Dr. Stinson’s first epidural steroid injection provided 50% relief of his symptoms, and the second injection provided 80% symptom relief.  Dr. Swanson reportedly obtained the following account concerning Employee’s Long Beach fishing episode:

He was doing well when he decided to move to Long Beach, California where it was warmer in the winter.  After he moved to Long Beach, California, he lined up a job as a carpenter which was to start the week after he went fishing.  He went fishing off of the Long Beach pier and did well until the third day.  The first two days he did not catch anything.  The third day he caught a stingray.  While he was leaning over the railing of the pier trying to reel in the stingray, which was fighting fairly hard, he developed back pain and pain down his left leg.  A nearby fisherman reeled in the fish and he sat on the pier for two hours before he was able to go home.

After this incident with the stingray occurred, he went to the emergency room and was given medications.  He indicates that he was then seen by Dr. Young, who recommended an operative procedure.  The examinee also saw Dr. Williams, who advised an operative procedure.  The examinee indicates that he did not have any additional injections. . . . (Dr Swanson’s EME report dated April 27, 2009 at 2).
44) On physical examination, Dr. Swanson found Waddell’s rotation, compression and distraction tests were all “negative.”  He found no palpable tenderness over the spinal processes of the thoracic or lumbar spines.  Employee’s lumbar range of motion with the double inclinometer method demonstrated significantly reduced range of motion.  Dr. Swanson reported seated straight leg raising is possible to 85° bilaterally with no evidence of “lean-back” or discomfort and compared this to supine straight leg raising, noting the difference is sufficient for Waddell to suggest “symptom magnification” (id. at 11).  Following his review of available film studies and his physical examination, Dr. Swanson concluded Employee had pre-existing spondylosis of the lumbar spine consisting of arthritis of the facet joints and degenerative disc disease with secondary spinal stenosis, congenitally long pedicles in the lumbar spine, a stable lumbar strain from June 15, 2005, and “symptom magnification with possible secondary gain” (id. at 9-13).
45) Dr. Swanson’s discussion begins with an explanation of reasons why Employee demonstrated “symptom magnification.”  Among other things, Dr. Swanson found a “significant difference” between seated and supine straight leg raising tests.  Dr. Swanson noted pre-existing spondylosis of the lumbar spine based upon x-rays and the MRI report.  He found no indication of a pathological worsening of the pre-existing spondylosis on radiographic report.  He opined spondylosis in the lumbar spine is not caused by work activities.  Employee’s genetically short pedicles combined with the pre-existing spondylosis and arthritis of the facet joints to produce spinal stenosis diffusely throughout the lumbar spine, in his opinion.  Consequently, the short pedicles allow little room to accommodate arthritic changes and disc desiccation causing disc bulges and as with normal aging, these conditions can cause spinal stenosis with “intermittent” neurogenic claudication and radiculopathy (id.).
46) Dr. Swanson concluded Employee suffered a lumbar strain on June 15, 2005 and said such strains may last as long as eight months because of residual “biochemical or cellular responses.”  Once the biochemicals are gone, which they “must be by eight months at the latest,” no further symptoms can come from the strain, and according to Dr. Swanson, there is no support in medical literature for the concept of a “chronic strain” (id. at 13).  According to Dr. Swanson, Employee reportedly had few if any symptoms remaining in his lumbar spine when he moved to Long Beach, California, in September 2005.  When he went fishing in Long Beach, Employee reportedly had no symptoms the first two days.  On the third day he caught a stingray and when he leaned over the rail to reel it in, he developed symptoms in his low back and left leg.  Dr. Swanson opined these symptoms were consistent with “waxing and waning” because of underlying, pre-existing spondylosis and arthritis in the facet joints, as well degenerative disc disease combined with his congenitally short pedicles.  Therefore, Dr. Swanson concluded by September 2005, Employee was stable following his work-related lumbar strain and without any “residuals.”  At the “very latest,” his situation would have been medically stable without any impairment by February 15, 2006 (id.).  However, in his deposition, Dr. Swanson suggested the fishing incident was a “new injury” responsible for his current symptoms and any need for treatment (Swanson deposition at 56-57; see also Employer’s Post-Hearing Brief at 2).
47) In Dr. Swanson’s opinion, the June 15, 2005 work injury was not “a substantial factor” in causing his current “symptoms or conditions” and that injury failed both the “but for” and “reasonable person” tests to have the June 15, 2005 injury be deemed “the substantial cause” of his current need for evaluation and treatment (Dr. Swanson’s EME report dated April 27, 2009 at 13).  Dr. Swanson opined those pre-existing conditions are “a substantial factor” in causing Employee’s current conditions, those pre-existing conditions “did combine” with the work injury on June 15, 2005, and the work injury produced a “temporary combination” with the pre-existing spondylosis, arthritis, degenerative disc disease, and short pedicles.  He concurred with the July 10, 2006 EME performed by Dr. Schilperoort and Dr. Reimer, and agreed there was no PPI related to the June 15, 2005 lumbar strain (id. at 14).
48) Employee needed no injections or blocks, and as for surgery, Dr. Swanson opined if future EMG
 studies or clinical observations show valid, objective radiculopathy, or if Employee developed symptoms typical of intermittent neurogenic claudication secondary to spinal canal stenosis with confirmatory CT
 myelogram findings, he could be a candidate for decompressing laminectomy at L4-5 and L5-S1.  However, the reason for such surgical procedures, in Dr. Swanson’s opinion, would be his congenitally short pedicles, combined with his pre-existing spondylosis of the lumbar spine, arthritis of the facet joints, and degenerative disc disease.  It would not be because of the lumbar strain on June 15, 2005.  No medications are indicated for the “resolved and stable” lumbar strain from June 15, 2005, further physical therapy, chiropractic treatment, massage therapy, or a TENS
 unit are not indicated and are not likely to be effective in Dr. Swanson’s opinion (id. at 14-17).  
49) Dr. Swanson testified by deposition generally consistent with his written report (Dr. Swanson deposition, August 13, 2009).  In respect to steroid injections and their potential effect, he testified they “may do many things” including giving complete, permanent resolution to symptoms; no benefit at all; benefit temporarily, partial or complete; or recurrence of symptoms in the future (id. at 16-17).  Dr. Swanson opined Employee’s lumbar strain, which occurred at the time of his injury got better (id. at 18).  According to Dr. Swanson, orthopedic surgeons are far better than radiologists in interpreting radiographic studies of orthopedic conditions (id. at 27).  Therefore, he disagrees with the radiologist’s impression in this case which stated Employee had a swollen nerve root at L5 on MRI (id.).

50) On September 8, 2009, Employee’s counsel filed a supplemental affidavit of attorney’s fees and costs incorporating all previously incurred and itemized fees and costs (Final Supplemental Affidavit Of Attorney’s Fees And Costs dated September 7, 2009).  Employee’s counsel bills at an hourly rate of $250.00.  The combined total Employee seeks is $24,071.07 in fees and costs (id.).  However, the fees and costs, though independently itemized, are not subtotaled (id.).

51) On September 14, 2009, Employer filed a limited objection to Employee’s requested attorney’s fees, incorporating its previous objection filed May 4, 2009.  Specifically, Employer objected to a “lack of dates for any of the work performed,” making it difficult for Employer to determine when the work was done relative to the issues in the case.  Employer further objected to block-billing various tasks and specifically objected to Employee’s researching the insurance company’s “corporate validity,” which it said appeared unrelated to the claim’s merits.  Employer also objected to cost items regarding Employee’s hotel in Seattle from April 27 through April 29, 2009 stating it was not liable for Employee’s stay in Alaska post-hearing and post-EME prior to his planned returned to Vietnam (Limited Objection To Attorney’s Fees dated May 1, 2009).  Lastly, Employer objected to cost adjustments which required employee to purchase a new plane ticket (Limited Objection To Attorney’s Fees dated September 10, 2009).


PRINCIPLES OF LAW 

§ 23.30.010.  Coverage.  Compensation is payable under this chapter in respect of disability or death of an employee.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).  “An employee’s preexisting condition will not” relieve an employer from liability in a proper case (id. at 534).  A finding disability would not have occurred “but for” employment may be supported not only by a doctor’s testimony, but inferentially from the fact that an injured worker had been able to continue working despite pain prior to the subject employment but required surgery after that employment. A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  However, there is also no reason to suppose Board members who so find are either irrational or arbitrary. That “some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable” (id.).

“Thus, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim under workers’ compensation law, the employment need only have been ‘a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.’  Hester suggests that when a job worsens an employee’s symptoms such that she can no longer perform her job functions, that constitutes an ‘aggravation’ -- even when the job does not actually worsen the underlying condition.”  DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90 (Alaska 2000).


§ 23.40.041.  Rehabilitation of injured workers.  (a) The director shall select and employ a reemployment benefits administrator. . . .

. . .

(c)  If an employee suffers a compensable injury that may permanently preclude an employee’s return to the employee’s occupation at the time of injury, the employee or employer may request an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits. . . .  The administrator shall, on a rotating basis, select a rehabilitation specialist  . . . to perform the eligibility evaluation.

The legislature delegated to the reemployment benefits administrator (RBA) the authority to decide in the first instance various issues related to reemployment preparation benefits.  Meza v. Alyeska Seafoods, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 89-0207 (August 14, 1989).
§ 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-665 (Alaska 1991).  In complex medical cases, medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link between the work injury and the ongoing disabilities.  Delaney v. Alaska Airlines, 693 P. 2d 859, 862 (Alaska 1985).  “Moreover, we believe that an injured worker who has been receiving medical treatment should have the right to a prospective determination of compensability.  See Kauffman v. Workmen’s Compensation Appeals Bd., 273 Cal.App.2d 829, 78 Cal.Rptr. 620, 627 (1969) (employee entitled to award specifying type of future care to avoid burden of instigating future litigation and “risk of being denied reimbursement and adequate care”); see also McAree v. Gerber Prods. Co., 342 A.2d 608, 611 (R.I.1975) (employee may request board to determine prior authorization of treatment, even if not a type of treatment enumerated in the statute as requiring prior authorization).  Injured workers must weigh many variables before deciding whether to pursue a certain course of medical treatment or related procedures.  A salient factor in many cases will be whether the indicated treatment is compensable under AWCA.”  Summers v. Korobkin, 814 P.2d 1369, 1372 (Alaska 1991).  A worker who has been receiving treatment for an injury which he claims occurred in the course of employment, is entitled to a hearing and “prospective determination on whether his or her injury is compensable” (id. at 1373-1374). 

Under the Act, an employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessitated” by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the Board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is undisputedly work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Philip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 730 (Alaska 1999).

§ 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

“The text of AS 23.30.120(a) (1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.”  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996) (emphasis in original).  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption all the benefits he seeks are compensable (id.).  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.  Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991).  The presumption applies to claims for medical benefits as these come within the meaning of “compensation” in the Act.  Moretz v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 766 (Alaska 1989); Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669 (Alaska 1991).  “The presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120(a) applies when an employer controverts continuing entitlement to temporary benefits.  To overcome this presumption, the employer must introduce ‘substantial evidence’ to the contrary.”  Bauder v. Alaska Airlines, Inc., 52 P.3d 166, 176-177 (Alaska 2002).
“Under Alaska law, a disability arising after a non-work-related injury is still compensable if an earlier work-related injury substantially contributed to the employee’s disability.  See Walt’s Sheet Metal v. Debler, 826 P.2d 333, 335 (Alaska 1992).  Thus the fact an employee has suffered a non-work-related injury does not, standing alone, rebut the presumption of compensability.  Alaska Pacific Assurance Co. v. Turner, 611 P.2d 12, 14 (Alaska 1980) (holding that where an employee suffers a work-related injury and then suffers an aggravation unrelated to his employment, the employer must show that the work-related injury was not a “substantial factor contributing to the later injury” in order to rebut the presumption of compensability).”  Osborne Construction Co. v. Jordan, 904 P.2d 386, 390 (Alaska 1995).
The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the disability or need for medical care and his employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to make that connection.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability and employment (Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316) or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability (Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991)).  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).
Once the preliminary link is established, the employer has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence the injury is not work related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 

(1) Produce substantial evidence providing an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 

(2)  Directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the employment was a factor in the disability.  

Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1054 (Alaska 1994) citing Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992).  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.  Norcon, 880 P.2d at 1054, citing Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, 860 P. 2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).  The employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.  Id. at 1055.  Therefore, credibility questions and the weight to give the employer’s evidence is deferred until after it is decided if the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption the employee’s injury entitles him to compensation benefits.  Norcon, 880 P.2d at 1054.  

If the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Koons, 816 P.2d 1381 (citing Miller, 577 P 2d. at 1046).  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  Consistent with AS 23.30.120(a) and cases construing its language, an injured employee may raise the presumption a claim for continuing treatment or care comes within the provisions of AS 23.30.095(a), and in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary this presumption will satisfy the employee’s burden of proof as to whether continued treatment or care is medically indicated.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).

Board decisions must be supported by “substantial evidence,” i.e., “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978).  The same standard is used in determining whether an employer has rebutted the §120 presumption (id. at 1046).  Where a physician had no opportunity to examine an employee “in any depth,” and where his conclusions were contrary to those of numerous treating physicians, his “knowledge of the case is so slight” as to make his report “worthless” and a “reasonable mind would not accept” his conclusions.  The judiciary may not reweigh evidence before the board, (Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978)).  But it also will not abdicate its reviewing function and affirm a Board decision that has only “extremely slight” supporting evidence.  Black v. Universal Services, 627 P.2d 1073 (Alaska 1981).  A “clear and unambiguous” EME report would overcome the §120 presumption, but if it disagrees with opinions of numerous treating physicians a reasonable mind would not accept its conclusions and it would not form a substantial basis to ultimately deny a claim (id. at 1076).  The Court has limited Black’s holding by refusing to reverse a decision “where the reviewing physician’s statement did not stand alone and was consistent with other evidence presented.”  Safeway, Inc. v. Mackey,
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§ 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

§ 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

§ 23.30.145.  Attorney fees.  (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . . 


(b) If an employer . . . otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection 145(a) authorizes attorney’s fees as a percentage of the amount of benefits awarded to an employee when an employer controverts a claim.  An award under §145(a) may include continuing fees on future benefits.  By contrast, §145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.  Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 150 (Alaska 2007).  Attorney’s fees in workers’ compensation cases should be fully compensatory and reasonable so injured workers have competent counsel available to them. Cortay v. Silver Bay Logging, 787 P.2d 103, 108 (Alaska 1990).

§ 23.30.155.  Payment of compensation.  (a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer. . . . .

. . .

A controversion notice must be filed “in good faith” to protect an employer from a penalty.  Harp v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992).  “In circumstances where there is reliance by the insurer on responsible medical opinion or conflicting medical testimony, invocation of penalty provisions is improper.”  But when nonpayment results from “bad faith reliance on counsel’s advice, or mistake of law, the penalty is imposed.”  Stafford v. Westchester Fire Ins. Co. of New York,

 HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=661&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1974125485"  526 P.2d 37 (Alaska 1974).  See also 3 A. Larson, Larson’s Workmen’s Compensation Law § 83.41(b)(2) (1990) (“Generally a failure to pay because of a good faith belief that no payment is due will not warrant a penalty.”).  “For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.”  Harp at 358; citing Kerley v. Workmen’s Comp. App. Bd.,

 HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=661&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&SerialNum=1971122777&ReferencePosition=205"  481 P.2d 200, 205 (Cal. 1971).  The evidence which the employer possessed “at the time of controversion” is the relevant evidence reviewed to determine its adequacy to avoid a penalty.  Harp at 358.  If none of the reasons given for a controversion is supported by sufficient evidence to warrant a Board decision the employee is not entitled to benefits, the controversion was “made in bad faith and was therefore invalid” and a “penalty is therefore required” by AS 23.30.155 (id. at  359.)

An EME’s medical opinion that expressly stated an employee did not need certain medications, would suffice to allow an employer to prevail at a hearing “if the opinion remained uncontradicted.” In such cases an EME’s opinion is sufficient reason under Harp, 831 P.2d at 358, for a “good-faith controversion.”
§ 23.30.185.  Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.  

The Court may reverse “a finding of medical stability where a prediction of medical stability turned out to be incorrect.”  Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1256 (Alaska 2007).  Predictions which proved to be incorrect “were not substantial evidence upon which the board could reasonably conclude” medical stability had been achieved (id.).
§ 23.30.190.  Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides. . . .

(b)  All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (Guides). . . . 

“Impairment ratings are to be performed when an individual is at a state of permanency.”  AMA Guides 6th Edition at 27 (2008).  “Cultural differences between the examiner and the patient can greatly increase the risk of the examiner misinterpreting the patient’s response (citation omitted).  For example, Waddell’s signs are not valid in non-Anglo cultures, as their reliability has been tested only among English and North American patients” (id.).

§ 23.30.395.  definitions.  In this chapter

. . .

(21) ‘medical stability’ means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted clear and convincing evidence;

8 AAC 45.052.  Medical summary. . . .

. . .

(1) If the party filing an affidavit of readiness for hearing wants the opportunity to cross-examine the author of a medical report listed on the medical summaries that have been filed, the party must file with the board, and serve upon all parties, a request for cross-examination, together with the affidavit of readiness for hearing and an updated medical summary and copies of the medical reports listed on the medical summary, if required under this section.


(2) If a party served with an affidavit of readiness for hearing wants the opportunity to cross-examine the author of a medical report listed on the medical summaries filed as of the date of service of the affidavit of readiness for hearing, a request for cross-examination must be filed with the board, and served upon all parties, within 10 days after service of the affidavit of readiness for hearing.

“Letters written by a physician to a party or party representative to express an expert medical opinion on an issue before the Board are not admissible as business records unless the requisite foundation is established.”  Bass v. Veterinary Specialists of Alaska, AWCB Decision No. 08-0093 (May 16, 2008).  A party has a right to cross-examine the authors of a medical record, if the right is not waived.  Commercial Union Companies v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976).  Reports of independent medical evaluators retained by the insurer are not medical records “prepared in the course of business” and are not admissible under the business records exception to the Rules of Evidence. Consequently, such reports are not admissible over objection and may not be the sole basis for making a finding.  Moesh v. Anchorage Sand & Gravel, AWCB Decision No. 92-0188 (July 29, 1992).

8 AAC 45.065.  Prehearings.  (a) After a claim or petition has been filed, a party may file a written request for a prehearing, and the board or designee will schedule a prehearing. . . .

. . .

(c) After a prehearing the board or designee will issue a summary of the actions taken at the prehearing, the amendments to the pleadings, and the agreements made by the parties or their representatives.  The summary will limit the issues for hearing to those that are in dispute at the end of the prehearing.  Unless modified, the summary governs the issues and the course of the hearing.


(d) Within 10 days after service of a prehearing summary issued under (c) of this section, a party may ask in writing that a prehearing summary be modified or amended by the designee to correct a misstatement of fact or to change a prehearing determination.  The party making a request to modify or amend a prehearing summary shall serve all parties with a copy of the written request.  If a party’s request to modify or amend is not timely filed or lacks proof of service upon all parties, the designee may not act upon the request.

8 AAC 45.142.  Interest.  (a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000. If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid. If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.


(b) The employer shall pay the interest


(1) on late-paid time-loss compensation to the employee. . . ;

. . . 


(3) on late-paid medical benefits to


(A) the employee or, if deceased, to the employee’s beneficiary or estate, if the employee has paid the provider or the medical benefits;

. . .

(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

Interest awards recognize the time value of money, and they give “a necessary incentive to employers to release . . . money due.”  Moretz v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 765-66 (Alaska 1989).
  The Court consistently directed interest awards to injured workers for the time value of money.  Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Assn., 860 P.2d 1184 at 1191 (Alaska 1993) (quoting Moretz 783 P.2d 764, 765-766 (Alaska 1989)); Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 at 1192 (Alaska 1987).  
8 AAC 45.180.  Costs and attorney’s fees.

. . .


(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145(a) will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this or another state. . . .  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed. . . . .

. . .


(d) The board will award a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) only to an attorney licensed to practice law under the laws of this or another state.


(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .  


(2) In awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved.

ANALYSIS

1) Is Employer’s July 10, 2006 EME report admissible over Employee’s request for cross-examination?

On November 5, 2007, prior to the date any party had filed an affidavit of readiness for hearing, Employee filed a request for cross-examination of Employer’s July 10, 2006 EME report by Dr. Reimer and Dr. Schilperoort.  Employee requested its right to inquire of these physicians as to the opinions expressed and their expertise.  To date, Employer has not provided Dr. Reimer for cross-examination concerning his July 10, 2006 report, and Dr. Schilperoort is now deceased.  Reports of independent medical evaluators retained by the insurer are not medical records “prepared in the course of business” and are not admissible as business records.  Employee never waived his right to cross-examine these physicians.  Consequently, the July 10, 2006 EME report is not admissible, and will not be considered in this decision.
2) Are claims for a compensation rate adjustment, a vocational rehabilitation eligibility evaluation and PPI properly raised and ripe for adjudication?

Employee initially included a compensation rate adjustment issue in his claim.  However, regulations limit issues heard at hearing to those raised at the last prehearing conference.  This case was set for hearing at a conference on December 22, 2008.  The applicable prehearing conference summary of even date does not list “compensation rate adjustment” as an issue set for hearing on April 23, 2009.  Employee never objected to its absence within the prescribed time.  Consequently, Employee’s compensation rate adjustment issue is not properly raised or ripe for adjudication.

The law makes the Rehabilitation Benefits Administrator (RBA) the initial arbiter of requests for eligibility evaluations for retraining benefits, and original jurisdiction over those matters lies with him.  Nothing in the record shows either party made an eligibility evaluation request to the RBA or shows the RBA ruled on any such request.  Therefore, a party must first make a request for an eligibility evaluation to the RBA and await the RBA’s decision, which is subject to further review.  Accordingly, Employee’s request for a rehabilitation eligibility evaluation is not properly raised or ripe for adjudication.

Lastly, Employee’s initial claim included PPI “when rated” as an issue.  The law requires PPI ratings to be performed when an injured worker’s injury is considered medically stable.  As discussed infra, because Employee’s work-related injury is not medically stable the request for PPI is premature, not ripe, and not ready for adjudication.

3) Does Employee’s disability or need for medical care after January 6, 2007 still arise out of and in the course of his employment with Employer?

This is primarily a factual issue to which the §120 presumption analysis applies.  This is not a particularly medically complex case.  In satisfying the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Employee has no history of back pain in 20 years, and no history of left leg pain, radiculopathy or numbness.  Employee had a distant-past and recent history of hard physical labor without any difficulties observed by his coworker and foreman Mr. Kenney.  Employee had a pre-hire physical examination without any issues arising concerning his ability to perform physical labor in 2004.  Employee worked for about a year for Employer prior to his injury without any reported physical problems.  Employee had a sudden, specific event which resulted in the weight of an object weighing in excess of 100 pounds being applied to his person to some degree.  He experienced symptoms in less than 24 hours in his low back and leg, which persisted for months.  Several physicians documented radiculopathy, an MRI was repeatedly interpreted to show swelling of an exiting L5 nerve root, and several physicians opined Employee’s symptoms, disability and need for medical care resulted from his June 15, 2005 work-related injury.  This minimal, threshold evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption and cause it to attach to Employee’s claim for continuing compensability of his low back and left leg symptoms.

In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, Dr. Swanson’s EME report is substantial evidence to rebut the presumption and specifically provides alternate causes for Employee’s ongoing symptoms, and any disability or need for further medical treatment, which, if accepted would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability.  Specifically, Dr. Swanson attributes Employee’s current symptoms either to a superseding intervening injury while fishing from a pier in California in 2005, or to his genetic predisposition and short pedicles, or to the normal progression of his pre-existing, lumbar degenerative processes.  Furthermore, Dr. Swanson rules out the June 15, 2005 injury as a substantial factor in Employee’s symptoms, any disability, or any need for additional medical care or treatment, thus directly eliminating any reasonable possibility the employment injury remains a substantial factor in the disability or need for further care.  Since Employer produced substantial evidence the symptoms, any ongoing disability and any need for medical treatment are no longer work-related, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee bears the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence and must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  

Employee proved his claim for continuing compensability by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee credibly testified he performed hard, physical labor most of his adult life.  Some of his labor included lifting and carrying 40 pound cement blocks and doing related “mud” work which is extremely physically demanding.  Mr. Kenney corroborated Employee’s testimony in this regard, and had personal knowledge of Employee’s history of hard, physical work without any apparent physical difficulties.  The medical record is devoid of evidence of significant low back pain in the past 20 years, and there is no medical evidence of any left leg pain or numbness.  Employee underwent a pre-hire physical with Employer just prior to beginning work in 2004.  There is no evidence in the record of physical difficulties prior to Employee’s work with Employer.  Mr. Kenney’s observance of Employee’s work in 2004 supports the inference Employee was having no physical difficulties performing strenuous, manual labor prior to his injury with Employer.

Employee suffered a specific event on the job with Employer that his doctors opined was consistent with his subsequent low back and left leg symptoms. The absence of pre-existing complaints of significant low back pain and left leg pain and numbness for 20 years, combined with an identifiable event in which Employee suddenly carried the weight of an object weighing in excess of 100 pounds, supports a reasonable inference this event caused Employee’s initial pain and other symptoms, which have never completely relented.  Employee medically documented low back and left leg symptoms less than 24 hours following the event.  Contrary to Dr. Swanson’s opinion and Employer’s arguments, there is no evidence in the record Employee’s low back and left leg symptoms ever completely resolved.  That the epidural steroid injections temporarily reduced Employee’s pain simply illustrates the shots worked “as advertised.”  Even EME Dr. Swanson conceded one never knows what the results will ultimately be from epidural steroid injections.

Contrary to Employer’s argument suggesting Employee’s symptoms were gone by the time he arrived in California, Employee left Alaska because cold weather was making his symptoms worse.  Accordingly, a reasonable inference from his credible testimony in this regard is that Employee’s low back left leg symptoms remained when he left Alaska September 2005, because that is why he left.  Employee was injured in June and would not have experienced any “cold” weather until September; thus, the colder weather necessarily was what caused increased symptoms prompting him to leave.  Similarly, there is no evidence any prior exposure to cold weather pre-injury caused Employee to seek a warmer clime.  He convincingly testified he took two weeks to drive from Alaska to California and he stopped every few hours to rest.  Employee’s back and left leg symptoms were not gone and his work-related situation was not resolved when he arrived in California.  They may have been improved, but were by no means resolved -- in other words, Employee’s remark he “felt good” following the second steroid injection does not equate with “cured” in light of all the medical and lay evidence.

The August 11, 2005 MRI study interpreted by a radiologist showed swelling of an exiting L5 nerve root on the left side.  There is no reason to suspect the radiologist lacked appropriate credentials to properly interpret this radiographic study.  There is no medical evidence to support an alternative reason for this finding other than Employee’s June 15, 2005, work-related injury with Employer.  If the nerve root was swollen prior to the June 15, 2005 injury because of some preexisting lumbar condition, one would expect some evidence, medical or otherwise, Employee was complaining of symptoms.  There is none, and Mr. Kenney’s testimony convincingly proves the opposite.  

Dr. Swanson’s contrary opinion is given less weight.  Experience, judgment, and observations have not shown orthopedic surgeons are better equipped or qualified to interpret MRI films of orthopedic conditions then radiologists, and Dr. Swanson did not produce a study supporting his opinion.  Dr. Beck recorded objective back spasms and observed and reported “toe weakness,” which Dr. Swanson stated is a symptom of radiculopathy, well before Employee left Alaska.  Dr. Beck said these findings were consistent with the nature of Employee’s work-related injury, and opined Employee was not medically stable and needed treatment.  Dr. Stinson provided treatment through epidural steroid injections that helped Employee some, as expected, but he also noted Employee consistently had “increased symptoms” with “activity.”  Dr. Stinson agreed with the radiologist’s MRI interpretation.  Before Employee left Alaska, Dr. Stinson opined he may be a candidate for “surgical evaluation.”
Employee’s increased low back and left leg pain while fishing, i.e., while engaged in “activity,” from the pier in California is not inconsistent with the course of his injury since the beginning; on at least two other occasions Employee experienced increased symptoms with relatively minor activity, such as standing for awhile or performing yard work.  Employee’s forthright description of the fishing incident does not convincingly reflect a significant event sufficient to cause a new injury, relieving Employer of responsibility for Employee’s ongoing disability, symptoms and need for medical care.

Following the fishing incident, Employee reported to the emergency room where he was diagnosed with “chronic low back pain with an acute exacerbation.”  He consistently advised his California medical providers of his June 15, 2005 work-related injury and attributed his symptoms to that injury.  Memorial Occupational Medicine Services opined Employee’s L5-S1 sciatica was work-related and placed him on TTD status.  Dr. Yuan diagnosed a “foraminal herniation” at L5-S1 on the left and noted Employee complained of having significant discomfort “for at least six months.”  A reasonable inference from this report is Employee was not well and pain free for at least six months prior to the pier fishing incident.  He saw Dr. Yuan on December 8, 2005, which is almost exactly six months from the date of Employee’s injury.  Dr. Yuan recommended immediate surgical intervention including a lumbar laminectomy at L4-5 and L5-S1 levels and a fusion to treat the spondylolisthesis.  He removed Employee from work.

Similarly, Dr. Williams agreed the MRI showed a herniated disc at L5-S1, placed Employee on TTD status, noted the injury sustained “was in Alaska,” and prescribed lumbar decompression surgery at L4-5 and a discectomy L5-S1.  The overwhelming weight of medical evidence supports a finding Employee damaged a lumbar disc at the time of his June 15, 2005 injury causing his swollen nerve root and low back and left leg symptoms; substantial evidence in the record supports a finding Employee’s symptoms never completely abated but simply got better temporally as expected with epidural steroid injections that eventually wore off.

Less weight is given to Dr. Swanson’s opinion because it fails to explain how or why Employee’s congenital or other pre-existing lumbar conditions would suddenly cause Employee’s continuing symptoms after his work-related “lumbar strain” supposedly resolved.  He fails to convincingly address the almost total lack of pre-injury low back or left leg pain and numbness notwithstanding Employee’s strenuous, physical labor without any prior complaints.  Experience, judgment, and observations do not support Dr. Swanson’s statement he is better qualified as a retired orthopedic surgeon to interpret MRI films then are practicing radiologists trained for that specific job.  Had Dr. Swanson operated on Employee’s low back and reported findings supporting his opinions, his opinion would be given more weight in this regard.  However, he did not, and Dr. Swanson speculates as to the radiologist’s qualifications while minimizing the radiologist’s ability to interpret MRI films.  Dr. Swanson is the only physician who disputed Employee had a swollen nerve root at L5 on the left side.  Furthermore, in an effort to describe Employee’s “symptom magnification,” Dr. Swanson utilized Waddell’s signs, which the AMA Guides state do not apply to patients who are not English or North American.  Employee is Vietnamese.
Employee never requested a right to cross-examine Dr. Reimer on his second report dated January 15, 2008.  While the July 10, 2006 EME report is inadmissible and not considered in this decision for the reasons set forth supra, the January 15, 2008 EME report from Dr. Reimer is admitted, considered and weighed.  Dr. Reimer does not state in his January 15, 2008 report Employee did not have a swollen L5 nerve root; thus, he too disagrees with Dr. Swanson’s opinion in this regard.  Though he reiterates his opinions from the prior inadmissible report, Dr. Reimer bases his opinions on his misunderstanding Employee’s symptoms “abated” before he journeyed to California.  The complete medical record and Employee’s credible reason for leaving Alaska, i.e., because the cold caused increased symptoms, show otherwise.  Dr. Reimer also fails to explain why a previously asymptomatic, pre-existing lumbar condition would suddenly cause back pain and left leg symptoms identical to what Employee experienced following his work-related injury after his work-related “lumbar strain” supposedly resolved, when no prior evidence showed Employee ever had similar symptoms for 20 years before his work injury.  Substantial evidence in the record does not support a finding Employee suffered only a lumbar strain on June 15, 2005.  By contrast, substantial evidence supports finding Employee suffered a herniated disc and a swollen nerve root at L5 on the left side.  For these reasons, Dr. Reimer’s report is given less weight.

Employee met his burden of proof and persuasion.  His ongoing symptoms, and any disability and need for medical care continue to arise out of and in the course of his employment, specifically his June 15, 2005 work-related injury with Employer.  Therefore, Employee’s claim for continued benefits is compensable.

4) Is Employee entitled to an award of temporary total disability (TTD) from January 6, 2007 and continuing?

This too is a factual question.  In satisfying the presumption analysis’ first step, and without regard to credibility, Employee testified he could not and did not work after he left Alaska, notwithstanding his desire to try laying tile the Monday following his fishing episode.  Dr. Beck opined Employee was not medically stable and needed medical treatment to improve the situation.  Dr. Stinson opined he might be a surgical candidate, thus implying Employee was not medically stable.  Memorial Occupational Medical Services opined Employee’s sciatica was work-related and placed him on TTD status.  Both Dr. Yuan and Dr. Williams stated Employee needed lumbar surgery to address his symptoms, and both removed Employee from work status.  This threshold evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption Employee was disabled and not medically stable and cause it to attach to Employee’s claim for this benefit.

In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, without regard to credibility, Dr. Swanson’s report states any disability from which Employee may suffer is not substantially caused by his June 15, 2005 injury, which he believes was only a “lumbar strain” long-ago resolved.  Furthermore, Dr. Swanson rules out the June 15, 2005 injury as a substantial factor in Employee’s disability, thus directly eliminating any reasonable possibility the employment injury remains a substantial factor in any disability.  Since Employer produced substantial evidence any ongoing disability is no longer work-related, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of this part of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee bears the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence and must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.

Employee again meets his burden of proof and persuasion by a preponderance of the evidence.    Memorial Occupational Medicine Services opined Employee’s L5-S1 sciatica was work-related and placed him on TTD status.  Dr. Yuan recommended immediate surgical intervention including a lumbar laminectomy at L4-5 and L5-S1 levels and a fusion to treat the spondylolisthesis and removed Employee from work. Dr. Williams agreed the MRI showed a “herniated disc” at L5-S1, placed Employee on TTD status, noted the injury sustained “was in Alaska,” and prescribed lumbar decompression surgery at L4-5 and a discectomy L5-S1.  None of Employee’s doctors stated he was medically stable or not disabled during the relevant period beginning January 6, 2007 and continuing.  Substantial evidence supports a finding Employee was never medically stable during the relevant period for which he seeks TTD benefits, January 6, 2007 to the present and continuing.  

Lesser weight is given to reports from Dr. Swanson and Dr. Reimer, for the same reasons as discussed supra, which discussion is incorporated here by reference.  Furthermore, Dr. Swanson only states Employee is medically stable with respect to his “lumbar strain” injury, which as discussed elsewhere in this decision is not the cause of Employee’s past and current disability and need for medical care.  Similarly, Dr. Reimer’s admissible January 15, 2008 report does not address medical stability, and states the pre-existing lumbar degenerative pathology is the major cause for him not returning to employment.  However, the foraminal herniation and swollen nerve root are the cause of Employee’s disability, and not his pre-existing spondylosis.  Substantial evidence shows Employee was not medically stable from the effects of his June 15, 2005 work-related injury and was disabled because of it.  Accordingly, Employee is entitled to TTD from January 6, 2007 and continuing, until such time as he is determined medically stable or returns to work thus changing his disability status.
5) Is Employee entitled to a prospective award of medical care?

This too is a factual question.  In satisfying the presumption analysis’ first step, and without regard to credibility, both Dr. Yuan and Dr. Williams opined Employee needed lumbar surgery, though they differed as to the type and extent.  This threshold evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption Employee needs surgery and cause it to attach to Employee’s claim for this benefit.

In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, Dr. Swanson states any lumbar medical care which Employee may need is not substantially caused by his June 15, 2005 injury, which he believes was only a resolved “lumbar strain.”  Furthermore, Dr. Swanson ruled out the June 15, 2005 injury as a substantial factor in Employee’s need for lumbar medical care, thus directly eliminating any reasonable possibility the employment injury remains a substantial factor in any need for such care.  Since Employer produced substantial evidence any ongoing need for lumbar medical care is no longer work-related, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of this part of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee bears the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence and must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.

Employee again meets his burden of proof and persuasion by a preponderance of the evidence.  By law he is entitled to a prospective determination of whether or not his surgery is compensable.  Before Employee left Alaska, Dr. Stinson suggested he might need a surgical referral.  Memorial Occupational Medicine Services opined Employee’s L5-S1 sciatica was work-related and referred him to an orthopedic surgeon.  Dr. Yuan recommended immediate surgical intervention including a lumbar laminectomy at L4-5 and L5-S1 levels and a fusion to treat the spondylolisthesis.  Dr. Williams agreed the MRI showed a herniated disc at L5-S1, noted the injury sustained “was in Alaska,” and prescribed lumbar decompression surgery at L4-5 and a discectomy L5-S1.  None of Employee’s doctors stated he did not need surgery.  Employee wanted surgery, and Dr. Williams attempted to schedule it -- thwarted only by Employer’s controversion.  Substantial evidence supports a finding Employee needs lumbar surgery to address his work-related injury and its sequelae.  Furthermore, two attending physicians prescribed surgery for Employee well within two years from the date of injury.  The law states discretion to deny such requests is extremely limited within the first two years following injury, assuming the prescribed treatment is within the realm of medically accepted treatment options normally prescribed to treat such injuries.  Experience, judgment and observations as well as two surgeon’s opinions dictate such treatments are within the realm of what reasonable physicians commonly prescribe to address similar symptoms.

Though it is clear two physicians prescribed surgery to treat Employee’s work-related symptoms arising from a foraminal herniation and related swollen nerve root at L5 on the left, it is unclear from the records whether or not reasonable and necessary treatment including a fusion is required to address Employee’s work-related symptoms, or if fusion is required to address just the underlying, preexistent spondylosis.  In other words, it cannot be determined from the current records whether the foraminal herniation and swollen nerve root can be addressed independent of treatments suggested to address underlying spondylosis.  If the less invasive procedures can be done without the more extensive fusion, Employer is directed to pay only for the less invasive procedure.  On the other hand, if the decompression and discectomy, assuming Employee’s physicians believe they are still appropriate, cannot be accomplished without also treating the spondylosis, then Employer may be required to pay the costs associated with a fusion as well.  Therefore, Employer is directed to pay for the decompression and discectomy, assuming they are still appropriate, subject to further opinion from Employee’s physicians concerning whether or not fusion to address spondylosis is also reasonable and necessary to properly care for Employee’s work-related low back condition.  Jurisdiction over this issue is reserved.

6) Is Employee entitled to a penalty?

A controversion notice must be filed “in good faith” to protect an employer from a penalty.  “For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.”  An EME’s medical opinion that expressly stated an employee’s continuing symptoms, disability or need for medical care were not caused by his work-but injury would suffice to allow an employer to prevail at a hearing “if the opinion remained uncontradicted.”  Dr. Reimer’s admissible report and Dr. Swanson’s report are substantial evidence to support Employer’s controversion as of the date employer controverted.  Had Employee offered no contrary evidence, he would not have been entitled to any further benefits for this injury because of these reports.  Therefore, there is no legal basis to award Employee a penalty in this case and his claim for penalty is denied.

7) Is Employee entitled to an award of interest?

Employee has been awarded considerable past TTD benefits.  Interest awards recognize the time value of money, and they give “a necessary incentive to employers to release . . . money due.”  By law, interest is mandatory, and the Court has consistently directed interest awards to injured workers for the time value of money.  Accordingly, Employee’s request for interest is granted and he is entitled to statutory interest from Employer at the rate applicable to his date of injury.

8) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs? 

Employer very vigorously resisted this case; Employee retained an attorney who was successful in prosecuting his claim and he incurred legal costs.  Employee retained an attorney who was successful in obtaining a Board order finding the June 15, 2005 work-related injury was still a substantial factor in Employee’s continuing low back symptoms, disability and need for medical care.  This claim was relatively uncomplicated but tenaciously litigated for a relatively long time, and the immediate benefit resulting to Employee from a finding his injury is compensable is fairly significant, primarily because Employer must pay for his past and ongoing disability and work-related medical treatment.  

Employer offered several objections to the requested attorney’s fees and costs.  First, it objected to block billing and missing dates.  However, the itemized fee statements, including Employee’s Final Supplemental Affidavit Attorney’s Fees And Costs, all include dates of service and it is unclear to what Employer referred.  Second, Employer objected to legal billing for research regarding the insurer’s “corporate validity.”  Employee failed to justify this expense, and it is denied.  Third, Employee’s counsel’s hourly rate of $250.00 is reasonable given his experience and the results obtained.  Given Employer did not object to either the hourly rate or the total hours requested, with the exception noted supra, Employee’s request for actual attorney’s fees is otherwise granted.  However, it does not appear the fees and costs, though independently itemized, are independently sub-totaled.  Therefore, the exact amount of actual attorney’s fees awarded cannot be ordered absent calculations spanning many pages of documentation.  To best ascertain the parties’ rights, Employee’s counsel is directed to file and serve Employer with a total of the itemized hours separate from the costs.  Employer is directed to pay the total itemized and sub-totaled fees at the rate of $250.00 per hour, less the specific time deducted supra.  Jurisdiction is retained over this issue.

Employer also objected to certain costs.  Employee does not provide adequate justification explaining the “transportation difficulties” necessitating modifying Employee’s tickets and hotel accommodations in Seattle on April 27 through April 29, 2009.  Therefore, Employer’s objection is well taken and Employee’s additional charges for his changed plane ticket and additional accommodations in Seattle for those dates are denied.  To best ascertain the parties’ rights, Employee’s counsel is directed to file and serve Employer with a total of the itemized costs separate from the fees.  Employer as directed to pay the total remaining itemized in sub-total costs, less the cost deducted supra.  Jurisdiction is retained over this issue.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1) Employer’s July 10, 2006 EME report is not admissible over Employee’s request for cross-examination.

2) Claims for a compensation rate adjustment, a vocational rehabilitation eligibility evaluation and PPI are not properly raised and ripe for adjudication.

3) Employee’s disability or need for medical care after January 6, 2007 still arises out of and in the course of his employment with Employer.

4) Employee is entitled to an award of TTD from January 6, 2007 and continuing until he is deemed medically stable or returns to work, changing his disability status.

5) Employee is entitled to a prospective award of medical care.

6) Employee is not entitled to a penalty.

7) Employee is entitled to an award of interest.

8) Employee is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs. 


ORDER

1) Employer is ordered to pay Employee TTD from January 6, 2007 and continuing until he is deemed medically stable or returns to work and his disability status changes.

2) Employer is ordered to pay for Employee’s lumbar decompression and discectomy, if his attending physicians still believe it is medically reasonable and necessary.  Jurisdiction is retained over this issue.

3) Employee’s claim for a penalty is denied.

4) Employer is ordered to pay Employee statutory interest at the rate applicable to his date of injury for all past TTD benefits unpaid when due.

5) Employer is ordered to pay Employee’s actual attorneys fees and costs pursuant to this decision and order.  Jurisdiction is retained over this issue.

Dated at Fairbanks, Alaska on December 4, 2009.
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If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of KHA  DO employee / applicant v. KUYKENDALL INC., employer; COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY INS CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 200512575; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Fairbanks, Alaska, on December 4, 2009.
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Maureen Johnson, Clerk
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� Employee “Smallwooded” this report and at the time of hearing, Employer had not provided an opportunity for Employee to cross-examine these physicians on their opinions.  Dr. Schilperoort subsequently died following issuance of his report.  Whether or not this report can be considered will be determined later in this decision; it is discussed here simply for a full, factual background of the medical evidence and opinions.


� Electromyography.


� Computed Tomography.


� Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation.
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